THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

SEP 28 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity

Case No. 2016-000636

Norwest Properties, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Michael T. Strebler, Lisa W. Strebler, and Paul J. Mitchell, Defendants,

Of Whom, Michael T. Strebler and Lisa W. Strebler are the Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854
kbarnes@barneslawfirm.com
Post Office Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
803-943-4529

THE LAW OFFICES OF BRIAN L. BOGER
Brian L. Boger
brian@brianboger.com
Phillip A. Curiale
phill@brianboger.com
1331 Elmwood Ave., Suite 210

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Master erred in awarding the Respondents special damages when they pled only general damages?
- II. Whether the Master erred in awarding the Respondents damages in excess of those recoverable in an action for breach of a real estate contract?
- III. Whether the Master erred in awarding special damages that were not within the parties' contemplation at the time they executed the contract and the Respondents failed to prove?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting Michael T. Strebler and Lisa W. Strebler's, Respondents, (collectively "the Streblers") motion to approve an amount of damages. The case arises out of an August 2005 real estate contract in which Appellant Norwest Properties, LLC, ("Norwest Properties") contracted to buy a vacant, residential lot from the Streblers. On November 18, 2005, after discovering encroachments from the neighboring property that the Streblers refused to remedy, Norwest Properties filed an action against the Streblers for specific performance and breach of contract. (R. pp. 26-28). On February 13, 2009, Norwest Properties filed an Amended Complaint adding Paul J. Mitchell as a defendant to the specific performance action because Mitchell's driveway, fences, and pool area encroach on the property at issue. (R. pp. 30-33). The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master in Equity, held a bench trial on November 9, 2009, at which the Streblers appeared *pro se*.

On May 20, 2010, the Master filed an order finding Norwest Properties did not prove its claims for specific performance and breach of contract, thereby permitting the Streblers to keep the property. (R. p. 25). The Master further awarded the Streblers costs and damages, with the amount to be determined at a later date after the Streblers submitted an actual amount with supporting documentation. *Id.* On May 16, 2011, the Streblers filed a motion to approve amount of damages. (R. pp. 49-51). The motion included only a one-page "Summary of Damages" with

no supporting documentation. *Id.* On July 29, 2011, the Master held a hearing on the motion. Norwest Properties submitted a memorandum in opposition to the motion. (R. pp. 54-60). On March 1, 2016, the Master entered an order granting the Streblers' motion for damages in the amount of \$40,388.00. (R. pp. 3-4). Norwest Properties appeals from that order.

FACTS

The Streblers purchased the property in 1997 for \$57,000.00. (R. pp. 169-70). The property was a vacant residential lot located in the Governors Hill neighborhood in downtown Columbia. (R. p. 90). Sometime in 2001, Mr. Strebler gave Mr. Mitchell permission to build a driveway, fences, and a pool deck that encroached onto his property. (R. pp. 121, 126, 161). The Streblers and Mr. Mitchell did not put the agreement in writing and did not record any document reflecting the encroachments. (R. p. 145 lns. 11-13, p. 149 lns. 5-8).

In 2005, the Streblers listed the property for sale. Keith Norville, the managing partner for Norwest Properties,¹ learned about the property when he saw it advertised for sale in the newspaper. (R. pp. 88, 90 lns. 1-6). Mr. Norville has been a licensed real estate agent for over twenty years. (R. p. 88 lns. 8-24). Mr. Norville took his family to see the house and planned to build a retirement home that could also house his ailing mother. (R. pp. 90-91). He sent Mr. Strebler multiple letters expressing interest in purchasing the lot, and Mr. Strebler asked Dana Wolfe, a real estate agent, to respond to Mr. Norville. (R. p. 91 lns. 20-25).

On August 8, 2005, Norwest Properties offered the full asking price of \$175,000.00 in cash. (R. p. 92 14 lns. 9-16; pp. 154-60). On August 10, 2005, the Streblers accepted Norwest Properties' offer by signing a Contract of Sale. (R. pp. 154-60). The Contract specified that "[c]onveyance shall be made subject to all easements as well as covenants of record Seller

¹ Norwest Properties owns property and manages approximately thirty rental properties. (R. pp. 88-89).

agrees to convey by marketable title and to have prepared a proper statutory warranty deed free of encumbrances, except as herein stated.” (R. pp. 155 ¶ 11, 159 ¶ 11). The Contract did not list any encumbrances and no easements of record existed. (R. p. 94 lns. 19-22, p. 95 lns. 7-10, pp. 103 ln. 25 – 104 ln. 3).

A survey of the property done prior to the August 31, 2005 closing date showed numerous encroachments from Mr. Mitchell’s property, including a brick fence, a wooden fence, a brick column, and portions of a pool deck and driveway. (R. p. 161). After receiving the survey, Mr. Norville notified Mr. Wolfe that the Streblers needed to remove the encroachments before the property sale could close. (R. p. 162). The August 31, 2005 closing date passed without a resolution of the encroachments.

Mr. Strebler refused to remove the encroachments. (R. pp. 96 ln. 25 – 97 ln. 1). A contractor examined the property and provided an estimate of \$1,500.00 to remove the encroachments and \$1,400.00 to rebuild the structures where they should be located. (R. pp. 165-66, 104-05).

On November 18, 2005, Norwest Properties filed an action against the Streblers for specific performance and breach of contract. (R. pp. 26-29). The Master in Equity held a bench trial on November 9, 2009. At the trial, Mr. Strebler testified that he sought “costs of ownership beyond August 31, 2005,” the closing date. (R. p. 124 lns. 17-19). He requested “carrying costs, property taxes, homeowner’s association fees, maintenance costs, and costs of administration” in addition to costs in defending the action, but presented no evidence of these alleged damages. (R. p. 124 lns. 20-23). However, the Streblers’ answer only requests general “costs and damages” and does not include any allegation or enumeration of special damages. (R. p. 42).

On May 20, 2010, the Master entered an order finding that Norwest Properties did not prove its actions for specific performance and breach of contract. (R. p. 25). The Master found Norwest Properties breached the contract, the contract is invalid, and Mr. Mitchell has an easement on the property. (R. pp. 16-25). The Master further ordered that “Strebler be awarded his costs and damages in this case in accordance with Paragraph 20 of the Contract. Strebler shall submit those actual amounts with supporting documentation to the Court for final determination of the amount of this award.” (R. p. 25). As to recoverable damages and costs, the Contract states only: “If Purchaser shall default under this Contract, Seller shall have the option of suing for damages or rescinding this Contract. . . . In any action to enforce the provisions of this Contract, the prevailing party and Broker(s) shall be entitled to the award of their costs, including reasonable attorney’s fees.” (R. p. 160 ¶ 20).

On May 16, 2011, the Streblers filed a motion to approve the amount of damages. (R. p. 49). Along with the motion, the Streblers submitted only a spreadsheet of figures with no supporting documentation. (R. p. 51). The damages sought total \$48,713.00, consisting of (1) \$6,842.00 in real estate taxes from 2005-2011, (2) \$2,560.00 in homeowners’ association fees from 2007-2010, (3) \$8,325.00 in Mr. Strebler’s alleged “professional time” defending the action *pro se*, (4) \$350.00 in litigation costs, and (5) \$30,637.00 in unexplained “carrying costs” or “cost of capital” for which the Streblers calculated a 3% interest rate. *Id.* The Streblers never submitted a single page of documentation to support these figures.

On July 29, 2011, the Master held a hearing on the motion. (R. p. 172). Norwest Properties argued numerous independent grounds for denying the Streblers’ motion, except as to the \$350.00 in litigation costs. (R. pp. 176-80). It argued: (1) the Streblers may seek only general damages because they did not plead special damages in their answer; (2) the measure of general damages

in an action for breach of contract to purchase real estate is the difference between the contract price and the fair market value at the time of the breach or subsequent sale price, and the Streblers sold the property to Defendant Mitchell for the contract price of \$175,000.00 in May 2011; (3) the property taxes and homeowners' association fee payments are not recoverable and benefitted the Streblers, who continued to possess the property; (4) the "carrying costs" sought are speculative and not allowed by law; and (5) a *pro se* litigant is not legally entitled to compensation for his or her time defending or pursuing litigation. *Id.* The Master took the matter under advisement. (R. p. 182).

On October 23, 2015, after receiving no ruling on the motion for over four years, the Streblers sent an *ex parte* communication to the court asking for "an order approving" their motion. (R. pp. 52-53). On March 1, 2016, over four-and-a-half years after the hearing on the motion for damages, the Master in Equity issued an order granting the motion and awarding the Streblers \$40,388.00. (R. pp. 3-4). The Master granted all of the requested costs and damages except for the professional time costs because "Pro-se litigants are not entitled to attorney's fees."² (R. p. 4). Norwest Properties appeals the Master in Equity's decision to award damages.³

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Streblers alleged Norwest Properties breached the real estate contract and sought damages and costs pursuant to a contractual provision. (R. pp. 41, 49-50). "An action for breach of contract seeking damages is an action at law." *Conway v. Charleston Lincoln Mercury Inc.*, 363

² The Streblers did not file a cross-appeal as to this ruling. Therefore, it is the law of the case that they are not entitled to the requested \$8,325.00 in "professional time." See *Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) ("An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.").

³ Norwest Properties does not appeal the Master's decision to award \$350.00 in litigation costs pursuant to paragraph 20 of the Contract.

S.C. 301, 305, 609 S.E.2d 838, 841 (Ct. App. 2005). “In an action at law tried before a master, the appellate court will affirm the master’s factual findings if there is any evidence in the record which reasonably supports them. However, an appellate court may determine questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Estate of Tenney v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 393 S.C. 100, 105, 712 S.E.2d 395, 397 (2011) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The Master’s order granting the Streblers damages does not contain factual findings but, instead, states only: “In accord with evidence submitted by the Streblers, this Court awards damages to the Streblers in the amount of \$40,388.00.” (R. p. 4). Therefore, this Court may determine the legal question of whether the Streblers are entitled to the requested damages with no particular deference to the Master.

ARGUMENT

The Court may reverse the Master’s order for any one of the independent reasons discussed below.

I. THE STREBLERS FAILED TO SPECIFICALLY PLEAD SPECIAL DAMAGES

The Streblers are not entitled to damages for property taxes, homeowners’ association fees, and carrying costs, all of which are special damages in an action for breach of a real estate contract, because they failed to plead special damages in their answer. “[S]pecial damages . . . may be recovered only when sufficiently stated and claimed.” *McNaughton v. Charleston Charter Sch. for Math & Sci., Inc.*, 411 S.C. 249, 261, 768 S.E.2d 389, 396 (2015).

“Special damages must . . . be specifically alleged in the complaint to avoid surprise to the other party.” *Hackworth v. Greywood at Hammett, LLC*, 385 S.C. 110, 117, 682 S.E.2d 871, 875 (Ct. App. 2009). “General damages are inferred by the law itself, as they are the immediate, direct, and proximate result of the act complained of.” *Id.* at 116-17, 682 S.E.2d at 875. “Special damages are those elements of damages that are the natural, but not the necessary or usual, consequence of

the defendant's conduct. . . . Special damages . . . are not implied at law because they do not necessarily result from the wrong." *Id.* "When items of special damages are claimed, they shall be specifically stated." Rule 9(g), SCRC.P.

The Master's order awarding damages incorrectly states "The Streblers, in their Answer, requested costs and damages, including reimbursement of property taxes on the property at issue for the years 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009, as well as the holding costs of the property." (R. p. 3). The Streblers' answer alleges Norwest Properties breached the contract and states generally that "the defendants, having fully answered the complaint of the plaintiff, prays that the same be dismissed *with costs and damages* to the Defendants." (R. pp. 41-42) (emphasis added). The answer does not include a request for special damages and does not mention property taxes, carrying costs, or homeowners' association fees (none were imposed at the time, as explained below). Therefore, the Streblers may not recover special damages. For this reason alone, the Court may reverse the Master's order as to these damages.

II. THE MASTER'S AWARD OF DAMAGES EXCEEDS THE SCOPE OF GENERAL DAMAGES RECOVERABLE IN AN ACTION FOR BREACH OF A REAL ESTATE CONTRACT

The Streblers alleged and the Master found that Norwest Properties breached the real estate contract. (R. p. 41, pp. 107-13, p. 131 lns. 13-20, pp. 16-19). "Generally, the measure of damages for breach of an executory contract to purchase land is the difference between the contract price and the market value of the property at the time of the breach." *Benya v. Gamble*, 282 S.C. 624, 632, 321 S.E.2d 57, 62 (Ct. App. 1984). The Master erred in failing to apply this legal principal and, instead, awarding unpled and unproven special damages to the Streblers.

"In the case of a lost sale of a house, the proper measure of damages is the difference between the contract price and either (1) the fair market value of the house on the date of the breach or (2) the price at which the house is subsequently sold." *Jackson v. Midlands Human Res. Ctr.*,

296 S.C. 526, 529, 374 S.E.2d 505, 507 (Ct. App. 1988) (reversing an award of damages for the lost contract price where the plaintiffs “presented no evidence from which either differential could be calculated”). The Streblers presented no evidence to the Master of the fair market value of the property at the time of the alleged breach in October 2005 or of the price at which they subsequently sold the property. The only evidence in the record as to the property’s value is the contract price and the subsequent sales price, which Norwest Properties provided to the Master. (R. pp. 74-77). There is no evidence that the Streblers listed the property for sale between October 2005 and 2011, when they sold it to Mr. Mitchell. To the contrary, at the 2009 hearing, Mr. Ströbler testified that he planned to keep the property and his wife did not want him to sell it. (R. p. 142).

Applying the correct measure of damages, the Streblers damages are \$0. Because there is no evidence as to the fair market value of the property at the time of the alleged breach (aside from the contract price), the Court is unable to consider the amount of damages under the first method. As to the second method, the contract price between Norwest Properties and the Streblers was \$175,000.00. (R. p. 158). The Streblers subsequently sold the lot to Mr. Mitchell in 2011 for \$175,000.00. (R. pp. 74-77); *see Benya*, 282 S.C. at 632, 321 S.E.2d at 62-63 (addressing whether the trial court erred in admitting evidence of a sale price that occurred eighteen months after the contract breach and finding the admission within the trial court’s discretion).⁴ Therefore, they did

⁴ *See also Hofer v. St. Clair*, 298 S.C. 503, 513, 381 S.E.2d 736, 742 (1989) (finding “lower court did not abuse its discretion in” considering appraisals “made approximately two years after the date on which damages should be determined”); *S.C. State Highway Dep’t v. Wilson*, 254 S.C. 360, 369, 175 S.E.2d 391, 396 (1970) (finding in eminent domain case that the trial court did not abuse its discretion and the plaintiff suffered no prejudice by the defendant’s introduction of the sales prices of the properties at issue nine years prior to condemnation).

not suffer any recoverable damages. For this reason alone, the Court should reverse the Master's decision to award damages.

III. THE STREBLERS FAILED TO PROVE THEY ARE LEGALLY ENTITLED TO SPECIAL DAMAGES

As noted above, the measure of general damages in a case for breach of a real estate contract is the difference between the contract price and the fair market value or subsequent sale price, including any contractual damages. In this case, the Master erred in awarding damages in excess of those permitted by law or provided for in the parties' contract.⁵ The Streblers failed to provide sufficient proof they are legally entitled to the damages at issue. Therefore, even if the Court permits the Streblers to belatedly seek special damages, the requested damages are not supported by the law or evidence.

"Where a [party] seeks special damages in addition to his general damages, he must plead and prove both the fact of damage and the amount of damage." *Jackson v. Midlands Human Res. Ctr.*, 296 S.C. 526, 528, 374 S.E.2d 505, 506 (Ct. App. 1988). When "proof is speculative, uncertain, or otherwise insufficient to permit calculation of his special damages, his claim should be denied." *Id.* at 528, 374 S.E.2d at 506. In this case, the Streblers provided only a damages summary with unsupported figures. (R. pp. 49-51). It is unclear from the Streblers' motion what constitutes "carrying costs" sought in the amount of \$30,637.00. (R. p. 51). From Mr. Strebler's statements at the July 2011 hearing, it appears the carrying costs may be that Mr. Strebler "financed the property with a personal line of credit." (R. p. 181 lns. 6-7, lns. 22-23). However, there is no

⁵ The contract provided for an award of only "costs, including reasonable attorney's fees" for the prevailing party in an action to enforce the contract. (R. p. 160 ¶ 20).

documentation as to the amount of financing or proof of the amount of interest.⁶ Therefore, the claim is speculative and should be denied.

Further, the alleged carrying costs of a line of credit did not exist at the time the parties entered into the contract and there is no evidence showing Norwest Properties was aware of the possible need for financing. To the contrary, the evidence shows the Streblers could afford to hold onto the property indefinitely. In an October 4, 2005 email to counsel for Norwest Properties, Mr. Strebler stated: “there is no financial urgency for us to sell the property. We don’t mind having Dana [the Streblers’ real estate agent] re-sell the property at a higher price with the known defect disclosed.” (R. p. 164). Therefore, the “carrying costs” are not recoverable as a special damage.

“The party claiming special damages must show that the [opposing party] was clearly warned of the probable existence of unusual circumstances or that because of the [opposing party]’s own education, training, or information, the [opposing party] had reason to foresee the probable existence of such circumstances.” *Stern & Stern Assocs. v. Timmons*, 310 S.C. 250, 251, 423 S.E.2d 124, 125 (1992) (internal quotation marks omitted).⁷ “[T]he defendant must know or have reason to know the special circumstances so as to be able to judge the degree of probability that damage will result from delayed performance.” *Id.* at 251, 423 S.E.2d at 125. “The special circumstances *must exist when the contract was made.*” *Id.* (emphasis added). “When the above elements are met, special damages are considered within the contemplation of the parties at the time the contract was signed.” *Id.* at 251-52, 423 S.E.2d at 125.

⁶ The Master’s 2010 order specified that “Strebler shall submit those actual amount *with supporting documentation* to the Court.” (R. p. 25) (emphasis added).

⁷ See also 22 Am. Jur. 2d *Damages* § 654 (“If special damages are sought to be recovered in actions for breach of contract, the complaint must allege not only the special circumstances relied on but also that the special circumstances were known to the defendant to be the probable consequences of a breach at the time the contract was entered.”).

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