THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2016-000636
Case No. 2005-CP-40-6132

RECEIVED

OCT 20 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Norwest Properties, LLC,Appellant,

v.

Michael T. Strebler, Lisa W. Strebler, and Paul Mitchell,..... Defendants,

OF WHOM Michael T. Strebler and Lisa W. Strebler are, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Robert L. Widener
Andrew G. Melling
McNAIR LAW FIRM, P.A.
Post Office Box 11390
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 799-9800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

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

ARGUMENT

I. **Buyer's "special damages" argument has no merit and is not properly before this Court for appellate review.**

Buyer principally argues that the trial court erred in awarding any damages to Seller, except for \$350.00 in litigation costs, because all of those damages are "special damages," and Seller failed to plead "special damages" in his answer. (Init. App. Br., Arg. I at 6-7). This argument has no merit, because the "special damages" issues were tried by implied consent. In any event, Buyer's arguments are not properly before this Court for appellate review.

A. The "special damages" issues were tried by implied consent.

It is axiomatic that if a party fails to object to evidence on an issue not raised in the pleadings, the issue is tried by implied consent and must be treated in all respects as if it were raised in the pleadings. *E.g., Upchurch v. Upchurch*, 624 S.E.2d 643, 648 (S.C. 2006); *McComb v. Conard*, 715 S.E.2d 662, 667 (S.C. App. 2011). As noted earlier, Seller's opening statement and trial testimony raised all damage issues now challenged by

Buyer, but Buyer did not object at trial. Thus, the issue was tried by implied consent and, therefore, Buyer's "failure to plead" argument has no merit.

- B. Buyer's "special damages" arguments are not preserved for appeal or otherwise properly before this Court for appellate review.

The trial court's order on the merits specifically held that Seller had pleaded for and was entitled to an award of the damages now challenged by Buyer on appeal. (R. 12, 25). Buyer did not appeal this order and does not challenge it on appeal. (R. 1-4; Init. App. Br., *passim*). Therefore, this order is the law of the case and precludes Buyer's appellate arguments. *Judy v. Martin*, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 & n.4 (S.C. 2009) (a "prior unappealed order [becomes] the law of the case"); *McCall v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 597 S.E.2d 181, 184 (S.C. App. 2004) (same); see also *Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co.*, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (S.C. 1970) (an unappealed ruling in an order is the law of the case and, right or wrong, requires affirmance).

Buyer made a 59(e) motion but did not make any "special damages/failure to plead" arguments. (R. 43-48, both *passim*). Assuming *arguendo* that these damages had not been tried by implied consent, it was incumbent upon Buyer to raise this issue in its 59(e) motion. Having failed to do, this issue is not preserved for appeal. *Wogan v. Kunze*, 623 S.E.2d 107, 120 (S.C. App. 2005) (when trial court rules on issue not raised by parties, appellant must make a 59(e) motion or the issue is not preserved for appeal).

The trial court denied Buyer's 59(e) motion and again noted that Seller was entitled to an award of costs and damages. (R. 6). Buyer did not appeal this order and does not challenge it on appeal. (R. 1-4; Init. App. Br., *passim*). Therefore, this order is the law of the case and precludes Buyer's appellate arguments. *Judy v. Martin*, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 & n.4 (S.C. 2009) (a "prior unappealed order [is] the law of the case"); *McCall v. State*

Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 597 S.E.2d 181, 184 (S.C. App. 2004) (same); see *Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co.*, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (S.C. 1970) (an unappealed ruling in an order is the law of the case and, right or wrong, requires affirmance).

After the denial of Buyer's 59(e) motion, Seller moved to determine the amount of the costs and damages awarded by the court in its prior orders. (R. 49-51). For the first time in the case, Buyer argued that Seller's claimed (and awarded) damages were "special damages" that were not pled by Seller and therefore could not be awarded. (R. 55-57). As shown above, this argument has no merit, is not preserved for appeal, and is barred by the law of the case doctrine. In any event, the trial court's order granting Seller's motion did not mention or rule explicitly on this argument. (R. 4). Buyer did not make a 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling and, therefore, Buyer's "special damages/failure to plead" argument is not preserved for appeal. *Noisette v. Ismail*, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (S.C. 1991) (if trial court "[does] not rule explicitly on [appellant's] argument," it is not preserved for appeal unless appellant makes a 59(e) motion); *McMaster v. Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 719 S.E.2d 660, 662 n.3 (S.C. App. 2011) (trial court did "not specifically address" the issue and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion); *Chastain v. Hiltabidle*, 673 S.E.2d 826, 829-830 (S.C. App. 2009) (trial court did not "specifically rule on [an] issue" and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion); *Floyd v. Floyd*, 615 S.E.2d 465, 474 (S.C. App. 2005) (trial court "[did] not address the specific argument" and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion).

1

¹ In its Argument II, Buyer argues the trial judge failed to apply the proper measure of damages. (Init. App. Br. at 7-8). This argument hinges on Buyer's "special damages/failure to plead" argument, and it fails for the same reasons. Buyer raised this argument for the first time in its memorandum in opposition to Seller's motion to determine the amount of damages. (R. 56-57). As with its "special damages" argument, this came too late to preserve the issue for appeal. Moreover, and again as with the "special damages" issue, the trial court did not rule specifically on this argument (R. 3-4, *passim*), and Buyer did not make a 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling. Thus, the issue is not preserved for appeal.

II. Buyer’s “contemplation” argument is not preserved for appeal and is barred by the law of the case doctrine.

In its Argument III, Buyer argues that the trial court erred in awarding damages for “carrying costs (a/k/a “holding costs”)” and “homeowner association fees,” because these damages were not within the contemplation of the parties at the time of the contract. (Init. App. Br. 10). Buyer never made this argument to the trial court and, therefore, it is not preserved for appeal. *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (S.C. 2014) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.”); *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (S.C. 2006) (same).

Assuming Buyer made this argument to the trial court, the court did not rule on it (R. 3-4) and Buyer did not make a 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling. Thus, the argument is not preserved for appeal. *Noisette v. Ismail*, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (S.C. 1991) (if trial court “[does] not rule explicitly on [appellant’s] argument,” it is not preserved for appeal unless appellant makes a 59(e) motion); *McMaster v. Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 719 S.E.2d 660, 662 n.3 (S.C. App. 2011) (trial court did “not specifically address” the issue and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion); *Chastain v. Hiltabidle*, 673 S.E.2d 826, 829-830 (S.C. App. 2009) (trial court did not “specifically rule on [an] issue” and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion); *Floyd v. Floyd*, 615 S.E.2d 465, 474 (S.C. App. 2005) (trial court “[did] not address the specific argument” and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion).

Moreover, the trial court ruled in its merits order that Seller was entitled to an award of these damages. (R. 12, 25). Buyer did not appeal this order and does not challenge it on appeal. (R. 1-4; Init. App. Br., *passim*). Therefore, this order is the law of the case and precludes Buyer’s appellate argument. *Judy v. Martin*, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 & n.4 (S.C. 2009) (a “prior unappealed order [is] the law of the case”); *McCall v. State Farm Mut.*

Auto. Ins. Co., 597 S.E.2d 181, 184 (S.C. App. 2004) (same); see *Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co.*, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (S.C. 1970) (an unappealed ruling in an order is the law of the case and, right or wrong, requires affirmance).

III. Buyer’s “possession and use” argument is not preserved for appeal, is barred by the law of the case doctrine, and has no merit.

In its Argument III, Buyer argues that the trial court erred in awarding “property taxes” as damages, because Seller continued to possess and use/enjoy the property while paying the taxes. (Init. App. Br. 11). This argument is not preserved for appeal, because the trial judge did not rule on it (R. 3-4), and Buyer did not make a 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling. *Noisette v. Ismail*, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (S.C. 1991) (if trial court “[does] not rule explicitly on [appellant’s] argument,” it is not preserved for appeal unless appellant makes a 59(e) motion); *McMaster v. Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 719 S.E.2d 660, 662 n.3 (S.C. App. 2011) (trial court did “not specifically address” the issue and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion); *Chastain v. Hiltabidle*, 673 S.E.2d 826, 829-830 (S.C. App. 2009) (trial court did not “specifically rule on [an] issue” and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion); *Floyd v. Floyd*, 615 S.E.2d 465, 474 (S.C. App. 2005) (trial court “[did] not address the specific argument” and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion).

Moreover, the trial specifically ruled in its prior order on the merits that Seller was entitled to an award of damages based on “property taxes.” (R. 12, 25). Buyer did not appeal this order and does not challenge it on appeal. (R. 1-4; Init. App. Br., *passim*). Therefore, this order is the law of the case and precludes Buyer’s appellate argument. *Judy v. Martin*, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 & n.4 (S.C. 2009) (a “prior unappealed order [is] the law of the case”); *McCall v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 597 S.E.2d 181, 184 (S.C. App. 2004) (same); see *Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co.*, 177 S.E.2d 544, 544 (S.C. 1970) (an

unappealed ruling in an order is the law of the case and, right or wrong, requires affirmance).

In any event, Buyer's argument has no merit. At trial, Seller testified that he would have sold the property to Buyer subject to Defendant Mitchell's easement. (R. 132). This would have avoided the payment of any property taxes. When Buyer brought this action, it precluded any sale of the property during the pendency of the action and Seller therefore had to pay the taxes during the pendency of the sale.²

The trial court filed its 59(e) order on January 12, 2011. (See file stamp on R. 5). Thus, the 30-day time limit to appeal this order (and the earlier merits order) ran no earlier than Friday, February 11, 2011. Seller, therefore, could not begin to sell this property until February 11, 2011, at the earliest. Buyer did not appeal these orders, and it is undisputed that Seller shortly thereafter negotiated a sale of the property and sold the property in April 2011 for the same price that had been offered to Buyer. (R. 74-75). In short, Seller sold the property as soon as possible.

At trial, Seller testified that he wanted to sell the property after Buyer did not close the sale, but his wife did not want him to sell the property and, therefore, at the time of trial, his "present plan" was to keep the property (*i.e.*, his plan at the time of trial in November 2009 when Buyer's action remained pending and precluded any sale of the property). (R. 142). Buyer seizes upon this testimony to argue that Buyer's "independent decision to keep the property necessitated the payment of property taxes." (Init. App. Br.

² Buyer filed a lis pendens against the property which also precluded any sale of the property. Buyer argues that Seller also filed a lis pendens, so its lis pendens was irrelevant. (Init. App. Br. 11). This argument is a red herring. Buyer's lis pendens was filed before Seller's and, therefore, Seller's lis pendens had no additional effect on the ability to sell. Moreover, the pendency of Buyer's action itself precluded any meaningful or reasonable opportunity to sell the property, regardless of any lis pendens. No reasonable person would buy the property during the pendency of an action for specific performance wherein the plaintiff (Buyer here) sought an order compelling the sale of the property to the plaintiff.

11). At the damages hearing, however, Seller testified that he always intended to sell the property but could not due to the pendency of Buyer's action, and he sold the property "as soon as possible" after the "litigation had ended" (*i.e.*, after the trial court issued its 59(e) order and Buyer did not appeal from it or the prior merits order). (R. 180-181).

At most, there was conflicting evidence on whether Seller retained the property because he wanted to or because he had no choice due to the pendency of Buyer's action against him. The best evidence on this issue is Seller's actual conduct, *i.e.*, the undisputed fact that he sold the property as soon as possible after the litigation had ended. This was an action at law tried by a judge without a jury. Thus, as admitted by Buyer on appeal, the applicable standard of review is whether any evidence supports the trial judge's decision to award "property taxes" as damages. (Init. App. Br. 5-6). The evidence supports a finding that Seller retained the property due to the pendency of Buyer's action and, therefore, Buyer's "independent decision" argument has no merit.

IV. Buyer's "sufficiency of the evidence" argument is not preserved for appeal and has no merit.

In its Argument III, Buyer argues that Seller's evidence on the amount of damages was insufficient, because he "provided *only a damages summary with unsupported figures*" and, as to carrying costs, he provided "*no documentation* as to the amount of financing or proof of the amount of interest." (Init. App. Br. at 9) (emphasis added). In connection with this argument, Buyer noted the trial court's statement in the prior merits order that "[Buyer] shall submit those actual amounts *with supporting documentation* to the Court." (Init. App. Br. at 9, n.6) (emphasis added by Buyer). Though unclear, it appears to be Buyer's argument that the trial court's order required "documentation" of all damages but Seller failed to provide it.

Buyer never argued to the trial court that “documentation” was required to prove the amount of Seller’s damages, never argued that Seller failed to provide the required “documentation,” and never argued that a “damages summary with unsupported figures” was insufficient. (See R. 54-60 and R. 172-182, both *passim*). Thus, Buyer’s appellate arguments are not preserved for appeal. *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (S.C. 2014) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.”); *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (S.C. 2006) (same).

Moreover, the trial court did not mention or rule upon any “documentation” or “damages summary” issue in the appealed order on damages, and Buyer did not make a 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling. Thus, the issue is not preserved for appeal. *Noisette v. Ismail*, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (S.C. 1991) (if trial court “[does] not rule explicitly on [appellant’s] argument,” it is not preserved for appeal unless appellant makes a 59(e) motion); *McMaster v. Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 719 S.E.2d 660, 662 n.3 (S.C. App. 2011) (trial court did “not specifically address” the issue and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion); *Chastain v. Hiltabidle*, 673 S.E.2d 826, 829-830 (S.C. App. 2009) (trial court did not “specifically rule on [an] issue” and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion); *Floyd v. Floyd*, 615 S.E.2d 465, 474 (S.C. App. 2005) (trial court “[did] not address the specific argument” and appellant did not make a 59(e) motion).

In any event, Buyer’s argument has no merit. As noted earlier, this is an action at law tried by a judge without a jury, so the question is whether “any evidence” supports the trial court’s damage award. Seller testified at the damages hearing that he had suffered damages in the amounts set forth in his motion. (R. 175-176, 180-182). This was sufficient evidence based on his personal knowledge of those damage amounts, and the trial court

awarded damages “[i]n accordance with [this] evidence presented by [Buyer].”(R. 4).

Thus, Buyer’s appellate argument has no merit.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm the appealed order.